# Supreme Court No. 94444-0

Court of Appeals No. 75097-6-I

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## EDWARD AND MAYA ELEAZER, Husband and Wife,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

v.

FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurer doing business in Washington; THE TALON GROUP, a domestic Washington corporate entity or partnership, d/b/a Talon Group Escrow and/or Talon Title,

Respondents/Defendants.



## PETITION FOR REVIEW

FRIEDMAN | RUBIN® James A. Hertz, WSBA No. 3062 Henry G. Jones, WSBA No. 45684 1126 Highland Avenue Bremerton, Washington 98337 Telephone: (360) 782-4300

## **INTRODUCTION**

Title insurance is a guaranty of the accuracy of a company search and record title on a specific property. First American Title Insurance contracted with Edward and Maya Eleazer in 2007 to protect their home from someone else limiting their use of the land, encumbrances and/or if the title is unmarketable. The Eleazers knew about an on-site septic system ("OSS") on their property but did not know about 1993 encumbrances that restricted their use of that OSS on their property. An independent appraisal found \$125,000 in property diminution-in-value losses from the undisclosed 1993 encumbrances on the Eleazers' property. First American admits it missed the 1993 encumbrances.

Before closing on the purchase, the Eleazers agreed to agree to an easement in favor of the seller for access to the OSS without knowledge of the 1993 encumbrances, but the sale closed without any agreement and the parties certified that all conditions of the sale had been met. Years later, the Health District found that the 1993 encumbrances restricted the Eleazers' rights to use the OSS on their property, while the seller demanded unreasonable control of the Eleazer's land and the OSS. Can a title insurer use a knowledge based

exclusion to deny coverage when the undisputed evidence shows that the insured did not know about undisclosed encumbrances?

Division One held that a knowledge based exclusion barred coverage because the insureds allegedly allowed or agreed to the risk. *Eleazers v. First Am. Title Ins. Co.*, Washington State Court of Appeals No. 75097-6-1 (March 27, 2017) (copy attached). Division One reasoned that the insureds knew about the OSS, and further agreed to grant an easement so they allowed or agreed to the covered risk. *Id.* This holding, however, contradicts published Washington law concerning knowledge based exclusions and that damages are questions of fact left for the jury to decide. Whether the Eleazers are harmed financially by the undisclosed 1993 recorded documents—regardless of their knowledge of the OSS—is question of fact that can only be resolved by a jury. Division One also upheld the dismissal of the Eleazers' Insurance Fair Conduct Act (IFCA) claims.

## ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the trial court erred in entering the order of March
 24, 2016, denying Plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> C 1031 Properties, Inc. v. First American Title Ins. Co., 175 Wn. App. 27, 32-34, 301 P.3d 500 (2013) (citing Womack v. Von Rardon, 133 Wn. App. 254, 263, 135 P.3d 542 (2006)).

breaches of contract and insurance coverage, and dismissing their second amended complaint. CP 3.

2. Whether the trial court erred in entering the order of March 24, 2016, granting Defendants' motion for summary judgment and counterclaim for declaratory relief of no insurance coverage. CP 3.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Overview

The case involves the Insurance Fair Conduct Act ("IFCA") as well as a Title Insurance Policy that First American Title Insurance Company issued to the Eleazers.<sup>2</sup> CP 460, 485-494 (Insurance Policy). Because the insurance company issued the Title Insurance Policy to the Eleazers, First American owes contractual duties, quasi-fiduciary duties, and duties of good faith and fair dealing. CP 324, 460. First American conducts insurance business in Washington, so IFCA and associated insurance regulations apply to its conduct. CP 329.

In the Town of Index in 2007, a property owner named Loyal Nordstrom sold real property to Edward and Maya. CP 454, 460. First American's agent, Talon, handled the real estate transaction by acting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The case also involves a Closing Agreement and Escrow Instructions by Talon that governed the sale of the real property to Edward and Maya Eleazer, but for purposes of this petition, the Eleazers will focus on the breach of contract for the title insurance. CP 452, 456-61.

as the closing and escrow agent for the parties. CP 457, 837. Talon did not disclose the existence of the 1993 recorded documents concerning the OSS. This failure prevented the Eleazers from learning that the real property they were purchasing was actually encumbered by documents recorded against the title in 1993. CP 476. The Eleazers did not learn that their property was encumbered by the 1993 recorded documents until three years after they purchased it. CP 462.

The Eleazers did know that the neighboring Bush House was connected to septic pipes in their own front yard. CP 294, 455-56. During a pre-sale inspection in 2007, the seller's real estate agent told the Eleazers that the front-yard septic system was designed to be large enough for their home's use as well as the Bush House's use, in case their home's current septic system (located in the backyard) ever failed. CP 456. The agent stated that the Eleazers would need to initial a paper that they would be willing to sign an easement—agreeable to both parties—for the pipes in the front yard that were connected to the Bush House. CP 456; 859 (Form 34). This was a pre-sale Form 34 for a proposed easement to "grant access for maintenance of OSS to Bush

House... in the form of a recorded easement agreeable to both parties."<sup>3</sup> CP 456, 859 (Form 34). The parties did not negotiate the terms of an easement prior to closing.<sup>4</sup> The parties closed the real estate transaction. CP 460, 838. Title passed to Edward and Maya and was duly recorded. *Id.* Talon never informed them that their title was encumbered. CP 459.

After buying the property, the Eleazers invested time, money, and energy in renovations. CP 461. But three years later, they discovered the 1993 documents recorded against their title. CP 462. One of the documents is a Declaration of Restrictive Covenants. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Form 34 was "an agreement to do something which requires a further meeting of the minds of the parties and without which it would not be complete." *Keystone Land & Dev. Co. v. Xerox Corp.*, 152 Wn.2d 171, 175, 94 P.3d 945 (2004). While potentially useful in negotiations, "[a]greements to agree are unenforceable in Washington. *Id.* at 176. This is designed to "avoid trapping parties in surprise contractual obligations." *Id.* at 178. Therefore, "for a contract to form, the parties must objectively manifest their mutual assent" and "the terms assented to must be sufficiently definite." *Id.* at 177-78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Although the seller and Talon disregarded the Form 34 through their subsequent inaction, Edward and Maya did follow up with Talon before closing, which was appropriate because Talon was the closing agent. CP 459, 838. Edward and Maya asked Talon agents about the Bush House septic system easement issue. *Id.* The Talon agents looked through all the paperwork to see if they had missed anything; they said they did not find anything in the paperwork that mentioned the Bush House septic system. *Id.* In response to the Eleazers' questions, the Talon agents stated they had "no idea" what they were talking about, and that the home and property were theirs after closing because the seller already signed the house and property over to them, and only their signatures were required to complete the transaction. *Id.* Edward and Maya then concluded that there was no need for a septic system easement after all, and that the seller's agent had been mistaken at the pre-sale inspection. *Id.* 

previous owner (Ms. Nordstrom, f/k/a McMillan) recorded the Restrictive Covenants in 1993 to encumber both the property purchased in 2007 by Edward and Maya, and a neighboring property known as The Bush House. CP 462. The terms of the Restrictive Covenants:

do hereby bind said parties and all of their future grantees, assignes [sic] and successors to said covenants for the term hereinafter stated and as follows:

- 1) That all parcels of property as described above are to be considered as one total building lot.
- 2) That I have made application for developmental permit(s) for the construction of a building utilizing the above described lots as a single building lot.

If the parties hereto, or any of them or their heirs, successors or assigns, shall violate or attempt to violate any of the Covenants herein, it shall be lawful for any minicipal [sic], County, or quasi-judicial agency to prosecute any proceedings at law or in equity against the person or persons violating or attempting to violate any such Covenant and either to prevent him or them from so doing or to recover damages or other dues for such violation."

CP 462-63, 496 (Restrictive Covenants). So the properties are "to be considered one total building lot" and any violation of the Restrictive Covenants can subject the parties to prosecution. This raised serious concerns for Edward and Maya. CP 463, 840.

The other document recorded against their title is a 1993 Snohomish Health District letter to The Bush House. CP 463, 499-500 (Letter). The letter lists conditions by the Health District related to the

failure of the on-site septic system, and an application by The Bush House to build a new septic system across the adjacent property (which Edward and Maya purchased in 2007). CP 499-500.

One Health District condition in the letter is that "All components of onsite sewage facility on separate tax lots from the Bush House Restaurant must be tied to Bushhouse [sic] via recorded easements." CP 500 (Letter at p. 2, ¶ J). This, however, was not done. CP 463. No easement was recorded, either in 1993 or 2007. Instead, in 1993 Ms. Nordstrom filed the Restrictive Covenants. CP 462. When the property was sold to Edward and Maya in 2007, they did not know about the 1993 documents recorded against their title that appeared to provide dominant control of their land to the neighboring Bush House. CP 294, 459.

Receiving notice of the 1993 recorded documents would have allowed the Eleazers to take steps to remedy or remove the encumbrances while the property was under contract in 2007; or to negotiate a new sale price in light of the encumbrances; or to negotiate an easement agreeable to both parties and consistent with the seller's representations on the buyers' ability to use the real property in contrast with the encumbrances; or to reconsider the purchase as provided in the

Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement. CP 848, 858. Talon's failure to disclose the 1993 encumbrances deprived the Eleazers of those options. CP 459. This caused them to suffer damages.

## B. First American issued the Title Insurance Policy

When the title was recorded, First American issued the title insurance policy to the Eleazers. CP 460, 485-494 (Insurance Policy). It provides for indemnification and defense. CP 485. The policy has been in force: "Your insurance is effective on the Policy Date [May 10, 2007]." CP 485, 488. It protects them against actual losses for covered risks: "This Policy insures You against actual loss, including any costs, attorneys' fees and expenses provided under this Policy, resulting from the Covered Risks set forth below..." CP 460, 485.

"Covered Risks" include:

- "5. Someone else has a right to limit Your use of the Land; and
- "9. Someone else has as [sic] encumbrance on Your Title."

CP 460, 485.

The insurance policy also promises to defend Edward and Maya against adverse claims: "OUR DUTY TO DEFEND AGAINST LEGAL ACTIONS: We will defend Your Title in any legal actions only as to that part of the action which is based on a Covered Risk." CP 485. So the insurance policy promises to indemnify and defend the Eleazers'

title when "Someone else has a right to limit [their] use of the Land" and when "Someone else has an encumbrance on [their] Title." CP 485.

## C. Eleazers incur actual losses from covered risks

During the 2010 to 2011 time period, the septic system to the Eleazers' home failed. (This was the older system in the backyard.) CP 465-66. To correct the problem, they applied to the Snohomish Health District to connect to the newer septic system that existed in their front yard. CP 466. The Health District denied the application. CP 466. The basis for the denial was that the previous owner installed the front-yard septic system on the property (Lots 25-28) for the neighboring Bush House (Lots 29-33), and filed the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants. CP 466, 910 (Denial Letter).

The Health District specifically denied the Eleazers' application to use their own land to repair their own septic system, stating that in light of the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants, "it is not readily clear who has ownership/control of the OSS pressure bed and the immediate area." CP 910. So the Health District found that the Eleazers' did not have clear ownership of their own land due to the Restrictive Covenants. The Health District later threatened them with prosecution for their failing septic system. CP 468. Meanwhile, a prospective new owner of

The Bush House, together with seller Nordstrom, threatened to sue the Eleazers for not giving rights to their own land in favor of The Bush House. CP 463-65.

By this time, the Eleazers tendered their claim to First American. CP 466. While the insurance company initially denied that a covered loss existed, it later reversed course after the Health District denied the application to repair the septic system. *Compare* CP 910 *with* CP 467, 921 ("present circumstances reported by the Eleazers do trigger coverage under their title policy"). The Eleazers' also resubmitted their insurance claims, including claims under Covered Risk No. 5 ("Someone else has a right to limit Your use of the Land") and Covered Risk No. 9 (encumbrance on title). CP 467, 915.

First American responded, acknowledging that the 1993 recorded documents trigger coverage under Covered Risks Nos. 5 and 9:

Declaration of Restrictive Covenants and the SHD letter recorded in 1993 have an ambiguous impact on the Eleazers' use of their property; solely for purposes of the present claim, however, First American accepts that they are recorded documents within the scope of Covered Risks Nos. 5 and 9 in that they limit the location where the Eleazers can install a septic system on their property.

CP 467, 926 (middle ¶). This acknowledgment of coverage required the insurance company to defend, assist, investigate, and provide benefits.

Instead, First American "suggest[ed] a different method for resolving this, although, strictly speaking, it is not an appropriate measure of damages under the title policy." CP 926. First American informed the Eleazers that a diminution-in-value appraisal could involve months of delay. *Id.* Instead of doing the appraisal, First American only offered "to pay the difference between a low-pressure and high-pressure septic system." *Id.* The expensive and smaller, high-pressure septic system was necessary because the Health District denied the application for the Eleazers to use the drain field on their own land. CP 467, 470.

In May of 2013, First American finally retained an appraiser to perform a diminution-in-value report. CP 343. To its appraiser, the insurer stated that "First American has agreed that the 1993 SHD Letter and the Declaration of Restrictive Covenants, both of which are recorded, have the detrimental effect of restricting the locations on the Eleazers' property where they can install a septic system to serve their home." CP 345. The report found \$125,000.00 in property diminution-in-value losses. CP 363. The report did not consider other consequential losses or damages, including the expensive high-pressure septic system, as well as the quiet title attorney fees, costs, and expenses, all of which the Eleazers were forced to self-finance because First American did not

defend them. Apart from the August of 2013 appraisal inspection, no one on behalf of First American has ever interviewed, examined, or deposed the Eleazers to assess their losses. CP 295.

## D. For 16 months, First American provides no defense, assistance, investigation, or benefits

After First American acknowledged coverage in February of 2012, the Eleazers again requested help in the quiet title dispute. CP 296, 335. The request was for the abstracts of title to the encumbered properties. But First American did not respond. In March of 2012, the Eleazers again requested help, and also requested clarification of coverage. CP 296, 338. First American still did not respond to the request for help and the request for clarification of coverage. This information was important in the defense of the title and in understanding First American's coverage position, but First American Title never responded.

First American conducted no investigation or damages appraisal in 2012. CP 467. First American also provided no defense or assistance to their insureds in the quiet title disputes. CP 467. The time period in which First American acknowledge coverage was February of 2012 through June of 2013. CP 82. This was a period of 16 months. During this time period, First American provided no defense, assistance,

investigation of losses, or payment of losses to the Eleazers. CP 467, 470.

## E. After the Eleazers sued First American—and lost the quiet title case—First American withdrew coverage

By the time First American released the appraiser report, however, First American had already "withdrawn coverage." CP 82, 1582. In May of 2013, the Eleazers were forced to sue First American and Talon for First American's lack of action on their behalf. CP 1018. In that same month, the Eleazers lost in the quiet title trial court. CP 280. In June of 2013, First American withdrew coverage, citing both of those events in its letter withdrawing coverage. CP 766. This was 16 months after correctly acknowledging coverage, but taking no action. In its June of 2013 letter withdrawing coverage, First American cited Exclusion 4(a), which provides that "You are not insured against loss, costs, attorneys' fees, and expenses resulting from... Risks... that are created, allowed, or agreed to by You, whether or not they appear in the Public Records." CP 765.

## **REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW**

A. Division One's ruling conflicts with a Division Three published opinion that a knowledge based exclusion is inapplicable without direct knowledge and that title insurance case damages are a question of fact for the jury.

Division One's unpublished ruling conflicts with *C* 1031 Properties, Inc. v. First American Title Ins. Co., 175 Wn. App. 27, 301 P.3d 500 (2013). In *C* 1031 Properties, Division Three found that even though the insured knew about the existence of power lines on the property, since the insured did not actually know about the recorded easement, a knowledge based exclusion was inapplicable. "The role of the title insurer is to insure title. Title insurance is a guaranty of the accuracy of a company search and record title on a specific property." "By paying consideration to a title insurer for their expert services in uncovering defects in title, it is reasonable for the insured to believe and rely upon the fact that the insurer has discovered any encumbrances recorded in the public record." The Eleazers reasonably relied upon the fact that First American had discovered any encumbrances. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> C 1031 Properties, Inc. v. First American Title Ins. Co., 175 Wn. App. 27, 32-33, 301 P.3d 500 (2013) (citations omitted).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> C 1031 Properties, 175 Wn. App. at 33 (citing Kim v. Lee, 145 Wn.2d 79, 91-92, 31 P.3d 665 (2001); Kiniski v. Archway Motel, 21 Wn. App. 555, 560, 586 P.2d 502 (1978)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> C 1031 Properties, 175 Wn. App. at 32 (citing Kim, 145 Wn.2d at 91-92).

Eleazers did not submit a claim due to the OSS, so knowledge of the OSS is irrelevant. The Eleazers submitted a claim due to damages arising out of the undisclosed 1993 encumbrances.

In *C 1031 Properties*, Division Three held that in a title insurance case concerning encumbrances, "damages are questions of fact left for the jury to decide unless reasonable minds could not differ." Division One's opinion is in conflict with this fundamental jury question and is in conflict with this Division Three published title insurance case.

The 1993 recorded documents—for which there is undisputed insurance coverage—continue to encumber the Eleazers' title to their home. This was true in 2007, it remains true in 2017, and will remain true indefinitely. First American admitted this when it accepted coverage in February of 2012. CP 926 (middle ¶), CP 345. Division One accepted First American's argument that the Form 34 "agreement to agree" to an easement relieves it from any responsibility pertaining to the undisclosed 1993 recorded documents. It remains a question of fact for just how much the Eleazers are harmed financially by the undisclosed 1993 recorded documents—regardless of the Form 34. This question of fact can only be resolved by a jury.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> C 1031 Properties, 175 Wn. App. at 34 (citing Womack v. Von Rardon, 133 Wn. App. 254, 263, 135 P.3d 542 (2006)).

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