RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

CLERK'S OFFICE

5/26/2017 1:00 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

SUPREME COURT NO. 94444-0 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 75097-6-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EDWARD AND MAYA ELEAZER, husband and wife,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

VS.

FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign insurer; THE TALON GROUP, a domestic Washington corporate entity or partnership, d/b/a Talon Group escrow and/or Talon Title,

Respondents/Defendants.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Thomas F. Peterson, WSBA #16587 SOCIUS LAW GROUP, PLLC Two Union Square 601 Union Street, Suite 4950 Seattle, WA 98101.3951 206.838.9100

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

The superior court in *Eleazer v. Bush House L.L.C.*, ordered the Eleazers to perform on their promise expressed in Form 34 to grant an

easement to the Bush House. If the Eleazers failed to do so, the order provided that the court would appoint a special master to grant and record such an easement. (CP 275-81 & 755-61.) The court later appointed a special master and an easement was recorded.

The Eleazers appealed the superior court decision. On August 25, 2014, the court of appeals reversed and remanded holding that the superior court erred in transforming a general promise to grant an easement into a detailed easement agreement. *Eleazer v. Bush House*, No. 70513-0-1 slip op. at 1 (Wn. Ct. App., August 25, 2014) (unpublished) (CP 769-90.)² However, the court of appeals also held that the Eleazers were nevertheless bound by their Form 34 promise to convey an easement. The court of appeals remanded, directing the Eleazers to make a good faith offer of an easement to Nordstrom and allowing Nordstrom to seek rescission of the REPSA should the Eleazers fail to do so. *Id.* at 16-19. As of this date, the Eleazers and Nordstrom have neither agreed on an easement nor rescinded.

B. Procedural History

Despite the fact that First American had accepted coverage, the Eleazers filed their initial complaint against First American and Talon on May 7, 2013. (CP 1018-25.) In the complaint, the Eleazers alleged that First

² An unpublished opinion has no precedential value, is not binding on any court, and is cited only for such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate. GR 14.1. However, an unpublished opinion may be cited to establish relevant facts. *See Regan v. McLachlan*, 163 Wn. App. 171, 174 n.1, 257 P.3d 1122, 1124 (2011); *see also State v. Seek*, 109 Wn. App. 876, 878 n.1, 37 P.3d 339, 340 (2002) ("The general rule is that unpublished opinions may be cited for evidence of facts established in earlier proceedings in the same case involving the same parties. They can also be cited to establish facts in a different case that are relevant to the current case.")

American breached the Title Policy and engaged in bad faith by failing to "defend" the Eleazers in a quiet title action that they initiated (without First American's consent) and "ignored plaintiffs' requests for help and assistance before and during the quiet title action." (CP 1022.)

Discovery commenced in late 2013 and continued throughout 2014 and 2015. In January 2016, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. Although the Eleazers chose to dramatize certain facts, omit others, and present facts out of temporal sequence, as they do in the Petition for Review, the parties generally agreed in their summary judgment briefing that the essential material facts are not disputed. (CP 70 & 390.)

At the summary judgment hearing, it was quite clear that Judge Bowden had carefully reviewed the entire record and applicable law and ruled as follows:

Here the plaintiffs did know about the existence of the drain field and the septic system for the Bush House and the general location of those encroachments and, more importantly to the Court's view, they had agreed to convey an easement so the Bush House could continue to use the on-site septic system and the drain field.

If that easement was going to be too burdensome on the Eleazers, they could walk away prior to closing. If they found it was too burdensome and they couldn't reach agreement after closing this transaction, they still could have sought rescission of this agreement for the same reason that the parties couldn't come to an agreement.

It is clearly the existence of the drain field and the rights, if any, that the Bush House had to its continued use that diminished the property's value or marketability. The Eleazers were well aware of those facts and had agreed to grant an easement for the continued use of the septic system and drain field. So it is beyond question, in my view, as to how that would not be a risk to which the Eleazers agreed at the time of sale,

thus bringing those losses or diminution of value within the express exclusion of section 4A.

I agree with the defense characterization that there has been no actual loss from those recorded documents above and beyond the loss that would have been occasioned by the Eleazers' concession to the existence of those facilities and their agreement to convey an easement. There was never a claim brought, initially at least, against their title that would warrant a defense of that action, although those claims may have indirectly been asserted in some of the counterclaims.

I've spoken to the value and where the loss of value really arises, and it doesn't have to do with failures on the part of Talon or the insurance company.

I don't find that there is any bad faith in accepting coverage and then denying that coverage when those facts came to light. So, for all of those reasons, I will deny the plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment.

(RP 54-59.) On that basis, the superior court entered summary judgment dismissing the Eleazers' complaint with prejudice and granting First American's counterclaim for declaratory judgment. (CP 1-4.). The court of appeals affirmed. *Eleazer v. First American Title Ins. Co.*, No. 75097-6-I (March 27, 2017).

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Decision of Division One of the Court of Appeals does not Conflict with a Decision of Division Three Regarding the Knowledge Exclusion and Damages.

The decision of the court of appeals in this case does not conflict with any decision of another division of the court of appeals. The Eleazers argue that the opinion conflicts with Division III's decision in *C 1031 Properties, Inc. v. First American Title Ins. Co.*, 175 Wn. App. 27, 301 P.3d 500 (2013). These two cases deal with completely different exclusions in

different policies.³ The *C 1031* court does not quote the specific exclusion at issue in that case, referring to it only as the "knowledge exclusion" or "knowledge exception." 175 Wn. App. at 31-33. Although the Eleazers' policy is different, it has a knowledge exclusion that is probably similar to the one at issue in *C 1031*. Exclusion 4(b) of the Eleazer policy excludes risks "that are Known to You at the Policy Date, but not to Us, unless they appear in the Public Records at the Policy Date" The *C 1031* court ruled that the knowledge exclusion did not apply on the particular facts of that case because the policy defines "knowledge" as "actual knowledge" and C 1031 was found to not have had actual knowledge of the power line easement at issue in that case. *Id.* at 33.

However, First American did not rely upon the knowledge exclusion in denying the Eleazers' claim. It denied coverage based upon Exclusion 4(a), which excludes risks "allowed or agreed to" by the insured. This is not a knowledge-based exclusion as the Eleazers suggest. It turns on the insureds overt actions to assume or agree to a risk that might otherwise be insured against by the policy. See, e.g., Dickens v. Stiles, 81 Wn. App. 670, 675, 916 P.2d 435 (1996) (overburdening or misuse of an easement is excluded as being created, suffered, assumed or agreed to by the insured claimant); Tumwater State Bank v. Commonwealth Land Title Ins. Co., 51 Wn. App. 166, 170, 752 P.2d 930 (1988) (mere knowledge of a prior

³ The Eleazers purchased an Eagle Protection Owner's Policy for one-to-four family residences. (CP 547.) C 1031 was a developer that acquired an old drive-in theater to construct storage units. 175 Wn. App. at 29. Accordingly, C 1031 would not have purchased a residential title insurance policy.

encumbrance would not qualify under the "created, suffered, assumed, or agreed to" exclusionary clause unless the insurer also established that the insured agreed to the encumbrance.) The covered risk at issue in this case is that "someone else has the right to limit Your use of the Land." (CP 546.) But the Eleazers knew all about the drain field and the Bush House's use of it prior to purchasing the property, *allowed* it to remain there, and *agreed* to grant an easement to the Bush House to use and maintain it. Accordingly, *C* 1031 Properties, and the knowledge exclusion that it discusses, has no application to the facts of this case and does not present a conflict.

The court of appeals opinion also does not conflict with *C 1031 Properties* on the issue that "damages are a question of fact." First of all, the court of appeals acknowledged that damages are a question of fact. Slip op. at 15. Nevertheless, it held that, "[e]ven if there are questions of fact on actual loss, the undisputed record establishes coverage is barred under the exclusion for risks allowed or agreed to by the insured." *Id.* Accordingly, there is no conflict between this decision and *C 1031 Properties* on the issue of damages.

The Eleazers argue that their claim relates to the fact that the SHD Letter and Covenants are recorded on their property title not to the existence of the drain field, *per se*. But, contrary to the opening sentence of the Eleazers' brief, the Title Policy only insures against *actual loss* resulting from a covered risk. (CP 547.) It does not guaranty clear title and it does not obligate the insurer to initiate litigation to clear an alleged encumbrance from title. *Securities Serv., Inc. v. Transamerica Title Ins. Co.*, 20 Wn.

App. 664, 668-70, 583 P.2d 1217, 1220-1221 (1978). Accordingly, the Eleazers' claim must be tied to a covered risk that causes them a loss. That loss necessarily is that the drain field limits the Eleazers' use of their property. No one has sought to restrict the Eleazers' use of their property based on the SHD Letter or Covenants except as it relates to the Eleazers' desire to take control of the drain field and use it for their own septic system. The only reason they are prohibited from doing so is because the Eleazers agreed in the REPSA Form 34 to grant an easement to the Bush House for the drain field when they bought the Eleazer Property. The superior court in the first Eleazer case acknowledged this when it held that the "Eleazers contractually promised to grant an OSS easement, which was the direct underlying purpose of the SHD letter and Covenants." (CP 759.)

In any event, even though the court of appeals in this case declined to affirm on the damage issue, the Eleazers nevertheless suffered no damages due to a covered claim. As stated in *C 1031 Properties*, "damages are questions of fact left for the jury to decide *unless reasonable minds could not differ*." 175 Wn. App. at 34 (emphasis added). Neither the SHD Letter nor the Covenants caused any actual loss to the Eleazers. All of the eight judges in two cases and two appeals have concluded that the Bush House's rights in the OSS arose from the Eleazers' express promise in Form 34 of the REPSA to convey an easement to the Bush House. (CP 759-80; *Eleazer v. Bush House*, slip op. at 8; RP 54; *Eleazer v. First American Title Ins. Co.*, No. 75097-6-I, slip op. at 15-16 (March 27, 2017). So as matters stand today, the Eleazers have suffered no loss as a result of the SHD Letter

or Covenants. If the Eleazers suffer a loss, it will be because of their promise to convey an easement in Form 34, which was a voluntary act that is expressly excluded from coverage under the Policy.

B. The Decision of the Court of Appeals does not Conflict with Other Court of Appeals Decisions Regarding "Agreements to Agree."

The Eleazers' argument that the court of appeals opinion in this case conflicts with decisions on "agreements to agree" is nonsensical because the very same court held that agreements to agree are unenforceable in *Eleazer v. Bush House*. Slip op. at 4. But the court said that case did not involve an agreement to agree.

Before addressing the propriety of the trial court's order, we pause to clarify that, although our commissioner granted discretionary review of the question whether the provision contained in the Form 34 addendum was an agreement to agree, that is not the appropriate inquiry. The agreement to agree inquiry presupposes that no valid contract otherwise exists, which is not the case here given that the parties entered into a contract and performed nearly all of their obligations thereunder. Given the existence of a substantially-performed contract, the germane inquiry, and the one that we embark upon, is whether the provision contained in the Form 34 addendum was sufficiently certain and definite such that specific performance was an appropriate remedy. In addition, and more specifically, we must determine which contractual obligation is an appropriate subject for a grant of specific performance.

Slip op. at 4. The court went on to hold that the trial court erred by imposing specific easement terms upon the Eleazers. It nevertheless held that the Eleazers were bound by the duty of good faith and fair dealing to make a good faith offer of easement terms to Ms. Nordstrom. *Id.* at 8. Finally, the court held as follows:

If, on remand, the Eleazers fail to make a "good faith" offer, then Nordstrom may seek either damages from the Eleazers or rescission of the REPSA. If the Eleazers do make a good faith offer, however, then Nordstrom must either accept the offer, entice the Eleazers to accept a counteroffer, seek rescission of the REPSA, or forego a remedy.

Id. The Eleazers did not appeal this decision. Accordingly, it has been established, as a matter of law, that 1) Form 34 was not an "agreement to agree" in this context, and 2) that Form 34 required that the Eleazers negotiate an easement or face rescission of the REPSA. In other words, they allowed or agreed to the risk. The SHD letter and the Covenants have absolutely nothing to do with the Eleazers' obligation to perform on its promise in Form 34 in good faith.

C. The Supreme Court Recently Ruled that the IFCA does not Create an Independent Cause of Action for Regulatory Violations when an Insurer Reasonably Denies Coverage.

In their third and final argument for review, the Eleazers attempt to dance around this Court's recent decision in *Perez-Crisantos v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co.*, 187 Wn.2d 669, 389 P.3d 476 (2017) without directly addressing or even citing it. The reason is that the Eleazers' argument simply cannot be reconciled with that decision. The Eleazers correctly state that insurers can be held in bad faith, under the common law, even if they properly deny coverage. But then they go on to claim that "this court has not addressed whether this extends to the IFCA." Petition for Review at 19. But the undisputed premise of the IFCA as *Perez-Crisantos* recognizes, is that the IFCA creates an independent cause of action for an *unreasonable* denial of an insurance claim. *Id.* at 680. It goes on to hold that the "IFCA does not create an independent cause of action for regulatory

violations." *Id.* at 684. Given the reasoning and analysis of *Perez-Crisantos*, and the plain language of RCW 48.30.015 itself, there is no conceivable way that the statute creates a cause of action where there has been a *reasonable* denial of a claim. The only way to make any sense out of the Eleazers' convoluted argument is to assume that they are asking this court to rule that there is an independent claim for violation of insurance regulations in the absence of an unreasonable denial of the underlying claim, which directly conflicts with the holding of *Perez-Crisantos*.

Having just resolved this issue in February, there is no reason for the Court to revisit it now. For the reasons stated in this brief, and in the appellee's brief and summary judgment motion filed below, First American reasonably denied coverage because, *inter alia*, the Eleazers allowed and agreed to the harm for which they seek coverage, i.e. the legal presence of the Bush House drain field in their front yard.

IV. CONCLUSION

There is no conflict between the court of appeals decision and any other appellate opinion nor any issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The court correctly held in a well-reasoned unpublished opinion that the Title Policy at issue simply did not cover the Eleazers' claim.